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Southern Gold Limited – Consolidated Entity
Directors’ Report
The directors present their report of Southern Gold Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities
(consolidated group or group) for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.
Principal Activities
The principal continuing activity of the group in the year was the exploration for gold, copper, nickel,
and other economic mineral deposits.
Financial Results
The net result of operations for the group for the year was a loss after income tax of $1,128,867 (2015:
loss of $7,485,386).
Dividends
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year, and the directors do not
recommend the payment of dividends in respect of the financial year.
Review of Operations
Cannon Gold Project
Southern Gold’s flagship project continues to be the Cannon Gold Mine which is located
approximately 35km to the east of Kalgoorlie in Western Australia. The mine is being codeveloped with Metals X Ltd (“Metals X”) and they have been engaged to finance and operate the
project under two legal agreements:
 The Mine Finance and Profit Share Agreement; and subsequent
 Supplementary Deed to the Contracting and Finance Agreement.
The execution of these agreements with Metals X Ltd covered all operational matters including
mining, haulage and processing through the Jubilee Mill, approximately 30km to the south-west of
the project.
The main milestones for the Cannon gold mine during the year were:
 The commencement of mining in July 2015;
 The commencement of ore processing in November 2015 and our first ever gold pour; and
 The execution of documentation with Metals X allowing for the development of a much
larger open pit, or ‘big pit’ deal, combined with their Georges Reward deposit.
During the year Southern Gold came to an agreement with Metals X on the commercial and legal
terms of an expanded Cannon open pit development that was made possible by the combination of
the Cannon Mine with Georges Reward, a deposit to the north of Cannon that was acquired by
Metals X. Under the new arrangement, the Cannon Open Pit Mine will continue to be developed on
the original 50%:50% profit share arrangement with Metals X covering costs on a ‘at cost open
book’ basis and providing the mine finance, with all ore being processed through the Jubilee mill at
a fixed rate on a unblended, batched basis.
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The ‘big pit’ deal with Metals X also included an additional $2 million working capital debt facility
that the company has drawn upon during the year. Furthermore, as part of the ‘big pit’ deal, the
price of gold was fixed on the first 20koz of production at an average of A$1530/oz, underpinning a
large proportion of the costs of the operation. With operations now well advanced progress to date
is outlined in the table below:
Table 1: Cannon Year to Date (YTD) and Quarterly Production Statistics

Ore Milled
Head Grade
Recovery
Gold
Produced

tonnes
g/t Au
%

Dec
Qtr
86,333
2.57
90.92%

Oz.

6,474

Mar Qtr

Jun Qtr

YTD

Budget

43,790
2.68
92.85%

33,704
2.09
92.49%

163,827
2.60
91.7%

100,000
2.92
89%

YTD
Variance+%
+64%
-11%
+2.7%

3,504

2,095

12,074

8,333

+45%

This illustrates that the project is performing well and is running ahead of budget. The better than
expected recovery factor has been especially welcome as this has an important impact on the final
bottom line of the project.
Looking forward we expect the following production profile:
Table 2: Cannon Forward Gold Production Guidance to 31 March 2017

Ore Milled
Head Grade
Recovery
Gold Produced

tonnes
g/t Au
%
Oz.

Sept Qtr
2016
102,000
~3.1
88%
8,961

Dec Qtr
2016
110,000
~4.8
88%
14,832

Mar Qtr
2017
167,000
~3.3
88%
15,677

Total
379,000
~3.7
88%
39,469

It can be seen from this forward guidance that much of the gold is extracted from high grade zones
at the base of the pit in a “back ended” production profile. Note also that budgeted recovery is
projected to be lower (88%) while the fresh rock is being processed but it is anticipated that the
final life of mine recovery figure should be a little higher than this perhaps averaging 90% Life of
Mine.
We have also provided guidance on the net profit attributable to Southern Gold, with an expected
cash injection of A$14.5 million, net of repayment of the Metals X debt facility at the current gold
price (A$1750/oz at time of writing).
Given the importance of the deeper high grade mineralisation, four reverse circulation, diamond
cored tailed holes (CARD001 – CARD004) were drilled by Metals X to evaluate the extent and
potential variability of gold grade at the base of the pit. One of these holes, CARD001, returned the
best intercept ever recorded at Cannon: 19m @ 15.1g/t Au from 83m downhole.
Southern Gold also began drilling deeper holes outside the limits of the final open pit design to see
if ore grade intercepts could be found to potentially extend mine operations to an underground
phase. A program of 10 RC and diamond core holes for 1823.2m was undertaken in June and the
best result being 2.5m @ 8.93g/t Au from 188.5m in BSRCD273 (including 0.27m @ 76.4g/t Au
from 188.5m).
The high grade interval in BSRCD273 was particularly significant as the presence of albitecarbonate-silica-chlorite alteration is similar to that previously identified in high grade intersections
at Cannon and is the first occurrence of this style of mineralisation below the interpreted north
dipping bounding structure. The implication of this is that mineralisation is open in all directions
and there is much potential into the medium term to define additional underground exploitable
resources.
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Exploration
Exploration activity has also picked up significantly in the last 12 months. Several satellite projects
have been drill tested, regional projects mapped and reviewed and even some grass roots
exploration has begun at modest scale at some of the more remote regional projects such as
Cowarna.
In the past year the exploration team has:
 Drill tested the Arsenal prospect;
 Drill tested the Tooting Bec prospect;
 Drill tested the Monument prospect; and
 Commenced modest regional exploration efforts, including some first pass auger soil
sampling surveys at the Cowarna Gold Project.
Glandore Gold Project
Earlier this year Southern Gold announced an agreement with Aruma Exploration Pty Ltd
(“AEPL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Aruma Resources Ltd, whereby Southern Gold could earn
up to a 90% interest in a package of tenements immediately east of Southern Gold’s Bulong Project
(Figure 1).
Southern Gold can earn up to 90% by expending a $1.2 million in three tranches within three years.
The tenor and distribution of mineralisation already identified at Glandore is anticipated to facilitate
fast tracking of JORC resource definition activities and if successful, potential economic extraction
by open pit. Several high priority prospects with significant near surface drill intersections have
been identified from a review of historic exploration data: Supergene, Axial Planar and Central
Zone.

Corporate
Finance
A 1:15 share consolidation was completed on 29 October 2015, as approved by shareholders at the
Company’s 2015 AGM. This reduced the number of shares from 527,624,224 to 35,175,871.
On 3 November 2015, the Mine Finance and Profit Sharing Agreement (“Agreement”) with Metals
X was revised to cover an expanded Cannon open pit development and mining. The revised
Agreement included provision of an additional $2,000,000 secured loan facility to Southern Gold,
taking the facility to $2,500,000. As at 30 June 2016, Southern Gold had drawn down $2,000,000
(plus accrued interest). Interest and principal are repayable from Southern Gold’s share of profit from
the Cannon operations.
Southern Gold raised $275,232 through the issue of 1,223,250 shares resulting from the exercise of
the listed options at the exercise price $0.225, expiry 30 November 2015.
Southern Gold raised an additional $1,000,000 through an unsecured ‘convertible debt facility’ (refer
ASX announcements dated 1 April 2016 and 28 April 2016). The following options were issued to
the debt providers:
 1,388,889 call options with an exercise price of $0.32, expiry 30 June 2017; and
 1,388,889 call options with an exercise price of $0.40, expiry 30 June 2017.
If all options are exercised, the exercise price receivable by Southern Gold would fully offset the
repayment of the $1,000,000 borrowing due 30 June 2017.
In addition to the above, Southern Gold received in January 2016, a Research and Development tax
refund of $206,715.
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Completion of the Sale of Southern Gold’s Cambodian Interest
As reported in the prior financial year, the Company’s Cambodian exploration venture was
restructured. This entailed the sale of wholly owned subsidiary Southern Gold Asia Pty Ltd (“SG
Asia”) to an unlisted private company, Mekong Minerals Pty Ltd (“Mekong Minerals”).
The sale remained subject to successful renewal of certain tenements. Satisfactory renewal was
achieved during the year ended 30 June 2016, enabling formal completion of the Sale Purchase and
Joint Venture Agreement with Mekong Minerals (refer ASX announcement dated 9 February 2016).
Consideration received by Southern Gold:
 15% free carried interest until the completion of a positive definitive feasibility study; and
 2% gross sales royalty on all products sold from the tenements until US$11 million is paid
and then the gross sales royalty reverts to 1%.
Competent Person’s Statements
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results has been compiled under the
supervision of Mr. Ian Blucher (MAusIMM). Mr Blucher, who is an employee of Southern Gold
Limited and a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, has sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the
activity he has undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the
Australasian Code for the Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Blucher consents to
the inclusion in this report of the matters based on the information in the form and context in which
it appears.
The information in this report that relates to Cannon Mineral Resources is based on information
compiled by Mr Ian Blucher (MAusIMM). Mr Blucher is a full time employee of Southern Gold
Limited and has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation, type of deposit
under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined
in the 2012 Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves” (JORC, 2012). Mr Blucher consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on
the information in the form and context in which it appears.
Forward-looking statements
Some statements in this release regarding estimates or future events are forward looking statements.
These may include, without limitation:
 Estimates of future cash flows, the sensitivity of cash flows to metal prices and foreign
exchange rate movements;
 Estimates of future metal production; and
 Estimates of the resource base and statements regarding future exploration results.
Such forward looking statements are based on a number of estimates and assumptions made by the
Company and its consultants in light of experience, current conditions and expectations of future
developments which the Company believes are appropriate in the current circumstances. Such
statements are expressed in good faith and believed to have a reasonable basis. However the estimates
are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from estimated results.
All reasonable efforts have been made to provide accurate information, but the Company does not
undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to any “forward-looking statement” to
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this presentation, except as me be required under
applicable laws. Recipients should make their own enquiries in relation to any investment decisions
from a licensed investment advisor.
Changes in State of Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group other
than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
On the 8 July 2016, Southern Gold executed a binding legal agreement with an unlisted public
company, Asiatic Gold Ltd (“Asiatic”), to acquire its wholly-owned Singaporean Registered
subsidiary International Gold Private Ltd (“IGPL”), itself a 100% owner of a Korean company, Hee
Song Metals Co Ltd (“HSML”). Consideration paid by Southern Gold is valued at approximately
A$2 million, comprising 6,294,942 Southern Gold ordinary shares and A$116,000 cash. The
Southern Gold consideration shares will be distributed in-specie to 77 Asiatic shareholders. HSML
holds mineral tenure in South Korea, consisting of 44 granted tenements across 17 project areas. For
further information, refer ASX Announcement dated 8 July 2016.
As part of the above transaction, several of Asiatic’s major shareholders subscribed for $1.2m of
Southern Gold shares at $0.35/share, representing a 18% premium to the 20 day volume weighted
average share price to 6 July 2016, of $0.297. The share issue will be considered by shareholders at
a general meeting on 21 September 2016.
Other than the above, there has not arisen in the interval any matters or circumstances, since the end
of the financial year which significantly affected or could affect the operations of the Company, the
results of those operations, or the state of the Company in future years.
Likely Developments
Southern Gold will focus on developing alternative cash flow sources from a second project or from
the extension of the Cannon mine to an underground phase. There is also the possibility of early cash
flow from the South Korean operations.
Emphasis will be on drilling targets with a view to defining open pitable resources around Kalgoorlie
and underground high grade resources at the Korean projects. The objective is to make sufficient
cash flow to pay a return to our shareholders as well as organically fund world class exploration
efforts to find a world class deposit.
Environmental Regulation and Performance Statement
The Company’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulations under Commonwealth
and Western Australian legislation in relation to discharge of hazardous waste and materials arising
from any mining activities and development conducted by the Company on any of its tenements.
Options
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Southern Gold Limited under option are as
follows:
Fair Value at
Grant Date

Exercise Price

Number under
Option

Grant Date

Date of Expiry

15.04.2013
27.11.2014
01.02.2015

15.10.2017
30.11.2019
18.11.2020

0.150
0.105
0.109

0.900
0.375
0.375

128,670
400,002
333,334

28.04.2016
28.04.2016
12.07.2016

30.06.2017
30.06.2017
30.06.2021

0.029
0.025
0.282

0.320
0.400
0.375

1,388,889
1,388,889
1,245,000
4,884,784

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests in the
Company or any other entity.
As noted in the above table, 1,245,000 options were issued to employees under the Company’s
Employee Share Options Plan, subsequent to the reporting period ending 30 June 2016. Other than
these options issued to employees, there were no other unissued shares or interests under option of
any controlled entity within the Group during or since reporting date. For details of options issued to
Directors and Executives as remuneration, refer to the Remuneration Report.
During the year ended 30 June 2016, 1,223,250 ordinary shares of Southern Gold Limited were
issued on the exercise of options, for total proceeds of $275,232.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company at any time during the financial year are as set out below. Details of
Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are as follows:
Greg Boulton AM
B.A (Accounting), FCA, FCPA, FAICD (Non-Executive Chairman) (Member of Audit Committee)
Mr Boulton has extensive commercial experience spanning over 30 years as CEO and Non-Executive
Director for many Private and Public companies. He has broad experience in capital raisings,
acquisitions and commercial negotiations and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants,
CPA Australia and the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Mr Boulton is currently on the board of the Statewide Superannuation Trust and other South
Australian private companies.
Mr Boulton currently has 1,074,003 shares and 133,334 options in Southern Gold Limited.
Simon Mitchell
BSc (Hons) Geol, MAusIMM, GAICD, MSEG (Managing Director) (Member of Audit Committee)
Simon Mitchell was appointed Managing Director, effective from 1 February 2015.
Mr. Mitchell is a geologist and corporate executive with 23 years of resources industry experience in
technical and finance roles including 10 years gold exploration and mine development experience
with Normandy NFM, RGC, Goldfields and Aurora Gold in countries as diverse as Australia, Bolivia,
Chile, Papua New Guinea and Indonesia. More recently Mr. Mitchell has been Managing Director of
Asiatic Gold Ltd, an unlisted public company with gold exploration projects in South Korea.
Additionally, Mr Mitchell worked for 6 years at the Commonwealth Bank of Australia, predominantly
in Project Finance, and more than 6 years with Toro Energy as General Manager of Business
Development where he was responsible for the raising of more than US$80 million in capital and
engaging investors worldwide.
Mr Mitchell currently has 250,000 shares and 333,334 options in Southern Gold Limited.
Michael Billing
B Bus, CPA, MAICD (Non-Executive Director) (Audit Committee Chairman)
Mr Billing is an accountant with in excess of 35 years of mining industry experience in company
secretarial, senior commercial, and chief financial officer roles including lengthy periods with
Bougainville Copper Ltd and WMC Resources Ltd. He has worked extensively with junior resource
companies since the late 1990’s. Mr Billing is also Executive Chairman of ASX and AIM listed Thor
Mining PLC.
Mr Billing currently has 528,811 shares and 133,334 options in Southern Gold Limited.
David Turvey
B Sc(Hons) Geol, MAusIMM (Non-Executive Director)
Mr Turvey is a geologist with over 30 years’ experience in the Australian and Asian mining industries
where he has driven business development and corporate M&A activities in precious metals, bulk
commodities and industrial minerals. His experiences include holding key management roles and
consulting assignments in minerals exploration, technical marketing, project development and
commercial evaluation of mineral asset investments.
Mr Turvey was formerly a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Lawson Gold Limited until July
2013, and was previously Managing Director of FerrAus Limited from December 2005 to June 2009.
Mr Turvey currently has 447,507 shares and 133,334 options in Southern Gold Limited.
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Company Secretary
The following person held the position of Company Secretary during the financial year:
Daniel Hill
B.A (Acc), CA, MBA, MAppFin, FFin, CSA (Company Secretary)
Mr Hill has over 15 years’ experience in finance. With a background in accounting practice, he has
also held finance roles at Paragon Private Equity, Diageo plc, Hess Oil & Gas Inc and Grosvenor
Estates.
Mr Hill is a Non-Executive Director of AEM Cores Pty Ltd and Cavitus Solutions Pty Ltd.
Mr Hill currently has nil shares and 100,000 options in Southern Gold Limited.
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Remuneration Report (audited)
The remuneration policy is designed to align Key Management Personnel objectives with shareholder
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration package to Non-executive Directors and
time based remuneration to Executive Directors. The Board of Southern Gold believes the policy to
be appropriate and effective in attracting and retaining the best Directors and Executives to manage
and direct the Group, as well as create goal congruence between Directors, Executives and
shareholders.
The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amounts of emoluments of board members and
other Key Management Personnel of the Company is as follows:
The Company’s Constitution specifies that the total amount of remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors shall be fixed from time to time by a general meeting. The current maximum aggregate
remuneration of Non-executive Directors has been set at $300,000 per annum. Directors may
apportion any amount up to this maximum amount amongst the Non-executive Directors as they
determine. Directors are also entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and other
expenses incurred in performing their duties as Directors. The remuneration of the Managing Director
is determined by the Non-executive Directors and approved by the Board as part of the terms and
conditions of employment which are subject to review from time to time. The remuneration of other
executive officers and employees is determined by the Managing Director subject to the approval of
the Board.
Non-executive Director remuneration is by way of fees and statutory superannuation contributions.
Non-executive Directors do not participate in schemes designed for remuneration of executives and
are not provided with retirement benefits.
The Company’s remuneration structure is based on a number of factors including the particular
experience and performance of the individual in meeting key objectives of the Company. The Board
is responsible for assessing relevant employment market conditions and achieving the overall, long
term objective of maximising shareholder value, through the retention of high quality personnel.
The Company has a performance bonus scheme in place for the Managing Director which provides
for the payment of a cash bonus on the achievement of agreed milestones during the year as
determined by the Board.
The Company also has an Employee Share Option Plan approved by shareholders that enables the
Board to offer eligible employees options to acquire ordinary fully paid shares in the Company. Under
the terms of the Plan, options to acquire ordinary fully paid shares may be offered to the Company’s
eligible employees at no cost unless otherwise determined by the Board in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Plan. The objective of the Plan is to align the interests of employees and
shareholders by providing employees of the Company with the opportunity to participate in the equity
of the Company as an incentive to achieve greater success and profitability for the Company and to
maximise the long term performance of the Company.
The employment conditions of the Managing Director are formalised in a contract of employment.
The base salary as set out in the employment contract is reviewed annually. The Managing Director’s
contract may be terminated at any time by mutual agreement. The Company may terminate the
contract without notice in instances of serious misconduct.
Mr Hill is not employed by the Company. His services are provided in his capacity as a consultant to
act as Company Secretary of Southern Gold.
During the financial year there were no remuneration consultants engaged by the Company.
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Performance-based Remuneration
The Group currently has no performance based remuneration component built into Non-executive
Director packages. The Managing Director’s remuneration package includes a maximum
performance incentive of $50,000 for the period to 30 June 2016 and each year thereafter. The
Managing Director’s base salary package (excluding statutory superannuation) increased from
$220,000 to $230,000 upon the first gold pour from the production at the Cannon project in November
2015. The Managing Director’s base salary package increased to $245,000 effective 1 July 2016,
following an annual performance review.
The Group has one Executive Director, and three Non-executive Directors. The Managing Director
is paid a salary, while Non-executive Directors are paid directors’ fees. The Non-executive Directors
do not currently participate in any incentive scheme.
Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:
 Primary Benefits – salary/fees;
 Post Employment Benefits – superannuation.
Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options
No shares were issued to Directors or other Key Management Personnel as a result of the exercise of
remuneration options during the financial year.
Directors’ and other Key Management Personnel interests in shares and options
Directors’ and other Key Management Personnel relevant interests in shares and options of the
Company are disclosed above and in Note 5 of the Financial Report.
Shares and Options granted as remuneration
Options were granted as remuneration to the Managing Director in November 2015, as approved by
shareholders. Options granted to Directors & Key Management Personnel during the year are
disclosed in section (c).
All options granted have vested and no options were exercised in the financial year.
272,112 Shares were issued to the Non-Executive Directors as part of their remuneration for the year
ended 30 June 2016. 103,413 of these Shares were issued subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, on 1 July 2016.
Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Key Management Person of
Southern Gold Limited.
(a)

Directors and Key Management Personnel

The names and positions held by Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Group during or since
the end of the financial year are:
Directors

Position

G C Boulton AM

Chairman – Non-Executive

S Mitchell

Managing Director – Executive

M R Billing

Director – Non-Executive

D J Turvey

Director – Non-Executive

Key Management Personnel

Position

D L Hill

Company Secretary

I D Blucher

Project Development Manager
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(b)

Directors’ remuneration
Post
Employment

Short Term Benefits

2016
Primary Benefits

Directors’
Fees

Salary
and Leave

$

$

Bonus

Share
Based
Payments

Super
Contribution

Total

Percentage of
Remuneration
as shares

$

$

$

$

%

Cash

40,000

-

-

40,000

-

80,000

50.00%

S Mitchell

-

226,416

41,000

-

25,405

292,821

-

M R Billing

18,265

-

-

20,000

1,735

40,000

50.00%

D J Turvey

18,265

-

-

20,000

1,735

40,000

50.00%

76,530

226,416

41,000

80,000

28,875

452,821

G C Boulton AM

Post
Employment

Short Term Benefits

2015
Primary Benefits

Directors’
Fees

Salary and
Leave

Cash
Bonus

Share
Based
Payments

Super
Contribution

Total

Percentage of
Remuneration
as shares

$

$

$

$

$

$

%

40,000

-

-

14,572

-

54,572

26.70%

S Mitchell2

-

91,667

-

36,431

8,708

136,806

26.60%

M R Billing

18,261

-

-

14,572

1,739

34,572

42.15%

D J Turvey

18,261

-

-

14,572

1,739

34,572

42.15%

-

166,638

-

-

12,523

179,161

0.00%

76,522

258,305

-

80,147

24,709

439,683

18.23%

G C Boulton AM

NM

(c)

17.67%

Anderson1

1

Ms Anderson resigned 31 January 2015. Ms Anderson provided consulting service to the Group through to 31 May 2015.
Ms Andersen was not directly engaged by the Company during this four month period. Total fees paid during this four
month period were $15,000 and are not included in the above remuneration table.

2

Mr Mitchell was appointed Managing Director on 1 February 2015. Upon his appointment, Mr Mitchell was granted
333,334 unlisted options. These options were subsequently approved by shareholders on 22 October 2015.

Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration
2016

Salary and
Leave

Cash
Bonus

Super Contribution

Share Based
Payments

Total

Primary Benefits

$

$

$

$

$

D L Hill1

-

-

-

-

-

I D Blucher

111,186

-

10,563

-

121,749

111,186

-

10,563

-

121,749

Salary and
Leave

Cash
Bonus

Super
Contribution

Share Based
Payments

Total

$

$

$

$

$

D L Hill1

-

-

-

-

-

I D Blucher

126,022

-

10,325

-

136,347

126,022

-

10,325

-

136,347

2015
Primary Benefits

1 Mr Hill is not employed by the Company. His services are provided in his capacity as a consultant to act as Company Secretary
of Southern Gold Limited. Mr Hill was paid $19,723 during the 2016 year (2015: $55,315).
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(d)

Ordinary Shares and Options Held by Directors and Key Management Personnel
The number of ordinary shares held by Directors and Key Management Personnel in Southern Gold
Limited during the financial year is as follows:

30 June 2016

Balance at
beginning of
year3

G C Boulton AM

Acquired/
(disposed) on
market

Issued on
exercise of
options during
year2

Other changes
during the
year1

Balance at end
of year

726,835

100,000

111,112

67,114

1,005,061

S Mitchell

-

250,000

-

-

250,000

M R Billing

405,227

-

55,556

33,557

494,340

D J Turvey

268,367

-

111,112

68,028

447,507

51,660

(51,660)

-

-

-

D L Hill
I D Blucher

21,905

-

55,556

-

77,461

1,473,994

298,340

333,336

168,699

2,274,369

1 Shares were issued to Directors as part of their remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2016, as approved by shareholders. The
shares were issued in two tranches: 134,228 shares issued in November 2015 (G Boulton 67,114, M Billing 33,557, D Turvey
33,557). The second tranche was issued on 30 June 2016 being 34,471 shares to D Turvey, and 1 July 2016 being 68,942 shares to
G Boulton and 34,471 shares to M Billing. The share issue on 1 July 2016 is not reflected in the above table, as it occurred after 30
June 2016. However, the value of those shares are reflected in the remuneration table in section (b) of the Remuneration Report
and is reflected in the Group’s Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2016.
2 Options exercised in November 2015. These options were originally acquired through take up of entitlements under the Share
Purchase Plan offered to all shareholders. The Share Purchase Plan included one free listed option for each 2 shares acquired.
3 The total number of shares held by Key Management Personnel at the beginning of the year was 22,109,860. The opening
balance shown in the above table has been restated for the 1:15 share consolidation completed during the year ended 30 June 2016.

The number of options over ordinary shares held by Directors and Key Management Personnel in
Southern Gold Limited during the year is as follows:

30 June 2016

Balance at
beginning of
year3

G C Boulton AM

Acquired off
market

Expired
during the
year

Other changes
during the
year2

Balance at
end of year

Vested
during the
year

Vested and
exercisable

244,446

-

-

(111,112)

133,334

-

133,334

Mitchell1

333,334

-

-

-

333,334

333,334

333,334

M R Billing

188,890

-

-

(55,556)

133,334

-

133,334

D J Turvey

188,890

55,556

-

(111,112)

133,334

-

133,334

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

88,890

-

-

(55,556)

33,334

-

33,334

1,044,450

55,556

-

(333,336)

766,670

333,334

766,670

S

D L Hill
I D Blucher

1 The options issued to Mr S Mitchell were subject to shareholder approval as at 30 June 2015. Shareholder approval was granted
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting dated 22 October 2015.
2 The Directors exercised options in November 2015. These options were originally acquired through take up of entitlements under
the Share Purchase Plan offered to all shareholders. The Share Purchase Plan included one free listed option for each 2 shares
acquired.
3 The total number of options held by Key Management Personnel at the beginning of the year was 14,833,332. The opening
balance shown in the above table has been restated for the 1:15 share consolidation completed during the year ended 30 June 2016.
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(e)

Service agreements
Remuneration and other items of employment for the Managing Director, Mr Simon Mitchell, are
formalised in a service agreement agreed to by the Board. The major provisions are as follows:


Mr Mitchell commenced employment on 1 February 2015.



Agreed remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2016 was $220,000 per annum plus
superannuation guarantee contributions, subject to annual salary review increases for the term of
the service agreement. This base salary was to increase to $230,000 per annum after the first
gold pour from production at the Cannon project. The first gold pour and associated salary
increase occurred November 2015.



Following the annual performance and salary review, effective 1 July 2016 the Managing
Director’s annual salary was increased to $245,000 base salary per annum, plus statutory
superannuation.



The issuance of 333,334 unlisted options consistent with the unlisted options issued to Directors
on 22 December 2014 (a five year term and an exercise price of 37.5 cents).



The Managing Director’s remuneration package includes a maximum performance incentive of
$50,000 for the period to 30 June 2016 and each year thereafter. The Managing Director was
awarded $41,000 in bonuses related to the year ended 30 June 2016.



Termination without notice in the event that Mr Mitchell
 is guilty of serious or wilful misconduct
 fails to remedy a breach of the Agreement within 14 days of receipt of notice to do so



Termination without cause by either party with the provision of maximum three calendar months’
notice or by agreement in writing by the parties. In the event of redundancy due to takeover,
merger or other corporate arrangements, a six month notice period applies.

The Company entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with Mr Boulton on 19
February 2008 to provide services over and above his duties as Chairman on an as needs basis at a
daily rate of $1,000 covering his term as a Non-executive Director of the Company.
The Company entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with Mr Billing on 24 April
2005 to provide services over and above his duties as a Non-executive Director on an as needs basis
at a daily rate of $1,000 covering his term as a Non-executive Director of the Company.
The Company entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with Mr Turvey on 20
September 2011 to provide services over and above his duties as a Non-executive Director on an as
needs basis at a daily rate of $1,000 covering his term as a Non-executive Director of the Company.
The Company entered into a service agreement with an entity associated with Mr Hill on 30 May 2013
to provide financial and company secretarial services. The contract is subject to a four week
termination without cause.
(f)

Post employment/retirement and termination benefits
There were no post employment retirement and termination benefits paid or payable to Directors or
Key Management Personnel.

(g)

Voting at 2015 AGM
Southern Gold Limited received more than 99.6% of ‘yes’ votes on its remuneration report for the
2015 financial year. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM on its
remuneration report, other than the accrual for compulsory superannuation as part of normal payroll
payments.
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(h)

Related party disclosures
The terms and conditions of the transactions between related parties are on normal
commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties
unless otherwise stated.
The following comprises payments made to entities in which Directors or Key Management
Personnel have an interest;
Director and Key
Management
Personnel

Related Party Transaction

2016
$

2015
$

D L Hill

Payments to a member of Key Management for
financial and company secretarial services provided

19,723

55,315

GC Boulton

Payments to a Director related entity for Director
services provided*

80,000

40,000

D Turvey

Payments to a Director related entity for consulting
services provided in the due diligence process for
the acquisition of International Gold Private Ltd
(refer Note 26)

6,534

-

* Fees for Director services, for the year ended 30 June 2016, were settled through $40,000 in cash and
$40,000 in the issue of shares. The issue of share comprised $20,000 issued during the year ended 30 June
2016 and $20,000 which remained outstanding at 30 June 2016 which was satisfied through the issue of
shares on 1 July 2016.

Amounts receivable from and payable to Directors and Key Management Personnel and their
related entities at balance date arising from these transactions were as follows:
2016
$

2015
$

Current payables
Amounts payable to Directors and Key Management Personnel
related entities (refer Note 12)

57,983

4,991

57,983

4,991

There were no amounts receivable from related parties.

End of Remuneration Report
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Meetings of Directors
The Company held 13 meetings of Directors (including committees of Directors) during the financial
year. Attendances by each Director during the year were as follows:
Director Meetings

Audit Committee Meetings

Number of
Meetings Eligible to
Attend

Number of
Meetings Attended

Number of
Meetings Eligible to
Attend

Number of
Meetings Attended

G C Boulton AM

11

11

2

2

S Mitchell

11

11

2

2

M R Billing

11

11

2

2

D J Turvey

11

11

-

-

Non-audit services
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the
general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, as set out below, did not compromise the audit
independence requirement of the Corporations Act 2001.
All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board to ensure they do not adversely affect the
integrity and objectivity of the auditor.
The nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principle relating to auditor
independence as set out in the APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.
Non-audit services paid and/or payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2016
were $15,317 (2015: nil), comprising taxation related services in relation to the acquisition of
International Gold Private Ltd (refer ASX announcement 8 July 2016).
Indemnification and insurance of officers
Indemnification
The Company is required to indemnify the Directors and other officers of the Group against any
liabilities incurred by the Directors and officers that may arise from their position as Directors and
officers of the Group. No costs were incurred during the year pursuant to this indemnity.
The Group has entered into deeds of indemnity with each Director whereby, to the extent permitted
by the Corporations Act 2001, the Group agreed to indemnify each Director against loss and liability
as an officer of the Group, including all liability in defending any relevant proceedings.
Insurance Premiums
Since the end of the previous year the Group has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’
and Officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts.
The terms of the policies prohibit disclosure of details of the amount of insurance cover, the nature
thereof and the premium paid.
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or to
intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. The Group was not a party to any such
proceedings during the year.
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Auditor of the Company
The auditor of the Group for the financial year was Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration as required by section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for
the year ended 30 June 2016 is set out immediately following the end of the Directors’ report.

Dated at Adelaide, this 20th day of September 2016.
The report of Directors, incorporating the Remuneration Report is signed in accordance with a
resolution of the Board of Directors:

S Mitchell
Managing Director

G C Boulton AM
Chairman
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Level 1,
67 Greenhill Rd
Wayville SA 5034
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 1270
Adelaide SA 5001
T 61 8 8372 6666
F 61 8 8372 6677
E info.sa@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE DIRECTORS OF SOUTHERN GOLD LIMITED

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead
auditor for the audit of Southern Gold Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016, I declare that, to
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
in relation to the audit; and

b

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

I S Kemp
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Adelaide, 20 September 2016

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context
requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s
acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities.
GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current scheme
applies.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the Year ended 30 June 2016
Consolidated

Note

2016
$

2015
$

Continuing Operations
Revenue from ordinary activities

2(a)

Exploration expenditure written off
Exploration expenses
Mining costs
Mine development amortisation

10,490

19,101

(961,685)

(181,266)

(71,502)

(2,306)

(460,726)

-

(1,089,009)

-

(297,962)

(106,347)

(80,000)

(80,000)

Interest expense

(120,119)

(33,510)

Shareholder relations

(113,187)

(53,600)

(240,129)

(173,530)

(393,662)

(205,050)

(26,594)

(27,510)

(80,000)

(80,148)

(3,924,085)

(924,166)

2,817,998

441,126

(1,106,087)

(483,040)

(22,780)

(7,002,346)

(1,128,867)

(7,485,386)

-

147,742

(1,128,867)

(7,337,644)

Salaries and wages
Directors fees

Other consulting expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation

2(b)

Share based payments

Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit attributable to loss from ordinary activities

4

(Loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued Operations
Loss from discontinued operations

3

Net (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation and disposal of foreign
controlled entity, net
Total comprehensive income

Earnings Per Share
From continuing & discontinued operations
Basic (cents per share) – Loss

23

(3.14)

(25.82)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

23

(3.14)

(25.82)

Basic (cents per share) – Loss

23

(3.08)

(1.67)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

23

(3.08)

(1.67)

Basic (cents per share) – Loss

23

(0.06)

(24.15)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

23

(0.06)

(24.15)

From continuing operations

From discontinued operations

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016
Consolidated
Note

2016
$

2015
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

6

1,441,891

857,178

Trade and other receivables

7

53,896

63,006

Other assets

8

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

-

32,093

1,495,787

952,277

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Exploration and evaluation expenditure

9

7,132,433

6,937,031

Mine development assets

10

1,655,478

2,732,231

Deferred tax asset

4

2,693,070

81,787

Plant and equipment

11

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

31,054

31,143

11,512,035

9,782,192

13,007,822

10,734,469

669,039

181,848

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

12

Provision for employee benefits

13

10,910

3,370

Borrowings

14

3,045,146

533,510

3,725,095

718,728

-

-

TOTAL LIABILITIES

3,725,095

718,728

NET ASSETS

9,282,727

10,015,741

35,700,379

35,379,551

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Issued capital

15

Reserves

27

2,074,566

1,999,541

Retained losses

(28,492,218)

(27,363,351)

TOTAL EQUITY

9,282,727

10,015,741

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year ended 30 June 2016

Balance at 1 July 2014

Issued
Capital

Retained
Losses

ShareBased
Payment
Reserve

$

$

$

34,078,307

Profit or loss

(19,877,965)

1,919,393

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve

Total

$

$

(147,742)

(7,485,386)

Other comprehensive income

-

Total comprehensive income

-

15,971,993
(7,485,386)

-

147,742

147,742

(7,485,386)

-

147,742

(7,337,644)

1,301,244

-

-

-

1,301,244

-

-

80,148

-

80,148

1,301,244

-

80,148

-

1,381,392

35,379,551

(27,363,351)

1,999,541

-

10,015,741

Profit or loss

-

(1,128,867)

-

-

(1,128,867)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income

-

(1,128,867)

-

-

(1,128,867)

325,232

-

-

-

325,232

-

-

75,025

-

75,025

(4,404)

-

-

-

(4,404)

320,828

-

75,025

-

395,853

35,700,379

(28,492,218)

2,074,566

-

9,282,727

Issue of share capital
Fair value of options issued to Directors
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 30 June 2015

Issue of share capital
Fair value of options issued to lenders
Costs associated with the issue of shares
Total transactions with owners

Balance at 30 June 2016

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 30 June 2016
Consolidated
Note

2016
$

2015
$

Cash flows relating to operating activities
Interest received

7,490

11,861

Other income

3,000

9,461

R&D tax offset received

206,715

359,339

Mining costs

(136,049)

-

Payments to suppliers and employees

(958,193)

(790,315)

Interest paid
Net operating cash outflows used in continuing operations
Net operating cash outflows used in discontinued operations
Net operating cash outflows (Note (a))

(33,458)

-

(910,495)

(409,654)

-

(191,298)

(910,495)

(600,952)

(1,222,561)

(737,473)

(22,954)

(283,355)

(2,779)

-

(27,326)

(4,805)

(1,275,620)

(1,025,633)

-

199,230

(1,275,620)

(826,403)

275,232

1,380,270

(4,404)

(79,026)

2,500,000

500,000

2,770,828

1,801,244

584,713

373,889

Cash flows relating to investing activities
Payments for mining tenements, exploration and
evaluation expenditure
Payments for mine development assets
Disposal of subsidiary (cash held)
Payments for plant and equipment
Net investing cash outflows used in continuing operations
Net investing cash inflows from discontinued operations
Net investing cash outflows
Cash flows relating to financing activities
Proceeds from share issues
Payments for share issue costs
Proceeds of borrowings
Net financing cash inflows
Net increase in cash
Net foreign exchange difference

-

7,823

Cash at beginning of financial year

6

857,178

475,466

Cash at end of financial year

6

1,441,891

857,178

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes .
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 30 June 2016
Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

(1,128,867)

(7,485,386)

Share based payments

80,000

80,148

Depreciation

26,594

33,928

Note (a): Reconciliation of net loss from ordinary activities to net
cash flow from operating activities
Loss from ordinary activities after related income tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows

Unrealised foreign exchange

-

(53,910)

Mine development amortisation

1,089,009

-

Exploration written off and expensed – continuing operations

1,033,188

181,266

Exploration written off – discontinued operations

-

1,043,805

Net adjustments to carrying values – discontinued operations

-

5,767,405

22,780

-

3,394

(45,037)

19,772

(7,697)

(2,611,283)

(81,787)

548,521

48,687

6,397

(82,374)

(910,495)

(600,952)

Loss on disposal of subsidiary
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) decrease in other financial assets
(Increase) decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net operating cash flows

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the
Financial Year Ended 30 June 2016
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Southern Gold
Limited and controlled entities (‘Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’).
Basis of Preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act
2001.
The financial report covers the consolidated group of Southern Gold Limited, a listed public company
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would
result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and
conditions to which they apply. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Southern Gold Ltd is a for-profit entity
for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Consolidated Group
in the preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied,
unless otherwise stated.
These financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on the historical
cost convention where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non current assets,
financial assets and financial liabilities.
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented.
Two comparative periods are presented for the statement of financial position when the Group:
i.

Applies an accounting policy retrospectively,

ii.

Makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or

iii.

Reclassifies items in the financial statements

The Group has determined that only one comparative period for the statement of financial position
was required for the current reporting period as the application of the new accounting standards have
had no material impact on the previously presented primary financial statements that were presented
in the prior year financial statements.
New and revised accounting standards
There were no material new and revised standards which were effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that were adopted by the group.
a.

Principles of Consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its
subsidiaries as of 30 June 2016. The Parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. All subsidiaries have a reporting
date of 30 June.
All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation,
including unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where
unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying
asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts reported in the
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financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective
date of disposal, as applicable.
b.

Income Tax
The income tax expense / (benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense /
(income) and deferred income tax / (income).
Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income
calculated using applicable income tax rates enacted at reporting date.
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax
liability balances during the year as well as unused tax losses.
Current and deferred income tax (expense)/benefit is charged or credited directly to equity
instead of the profit and loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly
to equity.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect
on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income except where it relates to items that may be credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on
the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the
anticipation that the Consolidated Group will derive sufficient future assessable income to
enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by
the law.
Southern Gold Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. Each entity in the group
recognises its own current and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax liabilities
resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are immediately assumed by the
parent entity. The current tax liability of each group entity is then subsequently assumed by
the parent entity. The group notified the Australian Tax Office that it had formed an income
tax consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2006. The tax consolidated group has entered a
tax sharing agreement whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax
payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of the tax consolidated
group.
Research and development tax incentive
To the extent that research and development costs are eligible activities under the
“Research and development tax incentive” programme, a 45% refundable tax offset is
available for companies with annual turnover less than $20 million. The Group recognises
refundable tax offsets received in the financial year as an income tax benefit, in profit or
loss, resulting from the monetisation of available tax losses that otherwise would have been
carried forward.
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c.

Plant and Equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis. The carrying amount of plant and
equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable
amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected
net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining
recoverable amounts.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives to the Consolidated Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for
use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period
of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Plant and equipment

20–33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
reporting date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying
amount. These gains and losses are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.
d.

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each
identifiable area of interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are
expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities
in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence
of economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the
year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of
continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration
commences and are included in the costs of that stage.
Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In
determining the costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent
of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly costs
have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of
abandoning the site.
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e.

Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets this is equivalent to the date that the
Company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where
the instrument is classified ‘at fair value through the profit or loss’, in which case the costs
are expensed to the profit and loss immediately.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using
the interest rate method or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties. Where available,
quoted prices, in an active market are used to determine fair value.
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities
as being subject to the requirements of accounting standards specifically applicable to
financial instruments,
i.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

ii.

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

iii.

Available for sale (AFS) financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either
designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other
categories of financial assets. The Group's AFS financial assets include listed
securities and are measured at fair value.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial
instrument has been impaired.
f.

Impairment of Non Financial Assets
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any
excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the of Profit
or Loss.

g.

Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

h.

Discontinued Operations
A discontinued operation is a component of an entity, being a cash generating unit (or a group
of cash generating units), that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a
single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations; or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with the view to resale.
Refer to Note 3 for further information.
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i.

Investments in Associates
Investments in associate companies are recognised in the financial statements by applying
the equity method of accounting. The equity method of accounting recognises the Group’s
share of post-acquisition reserves of its associates.
Where there has been a change recognised directly in an associate’s equity, the Group
recognises its share of any changes and discloses this in the statement of profit of loss and
other comprehensive income. The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are
identical and the associates accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

j.

Interests in Joint Operations
The Consolidated Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint
operations are included in the appropriate items of the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the Consolidated Group’s interests are shown at Note 18.

k.

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services
rendered by employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits. The cash flows are discounted using market yields on national government bonds
with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.
In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the
probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are
discounted using market yields on national government bonds with terms to maturity that
match the expected timing of cash flows.
Share based payments
The Company has an Employee Share Option Plan where employees may be provided with
options to acquire shares in the Company. The fair value of the options are measured at grant
date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in
equity. The fair value of options is ascertained using the Black-Scholes pricing model which
incorporates all market vesting conditions.

l.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result
of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and
that outflow can be reliably measured.

m.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other shortterm highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts.

n.

Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates
applicable to the financial assets. Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon
the delivery of the service to the customers.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
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o.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are
shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the
Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of
financial position.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

p.

Government Grants
Government grants are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants relating to expense items
are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant to the costs they are
compensating. Grants relating to assets are credited to deferred income at fair value and are
credited to income over the expected useful life of the asset on a straight-line basis.

q.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period
for goods and services received by the group during the period which remains unpaid. The
balance is recognised as a current liability with the amount being normally paid within 30
days of recognition of the liability.

r.

Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
to changes in presentation for the current financial year.

s.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data,
obtained both externally and within the Group.
Key Judgments –Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax asset has been recognised representing carry forward tax losses that are expected
to be utilised in the next 12 months.
In determining the extent to which sufficient future taxable profits are probable, the Group
has considered the 2016 projected income from the Cannon operations. The recognition of a
$2,611,283 increase in the deferred tax asset, during the year ended 30 June 2016, reflects
the revised Mine Finance and Profit Sharing Agreement with Metals X Limited (ASX: MLX
– “Metals X”) (refer ASX announcement 3 November 2015). Under the revised agreement,
the development of the Company’s Cannon Gold Resource was expanded to a larger open
pit. The larger open pit development has increased expectation for future taxable income.
Refer to Note 4.
Key Judgments — Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets
The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to
the Group that may lead to impairment of exploration and evaluation assets. Where an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.
The Group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is
considered likely to be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. While there are certain areas of
interest from which no reserves have been extracted, the Directors are of the continued belief
that such expenditure should not be written off since feasibility studies in such areas have not
yet concluded.
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t.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of
the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted
for bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year.
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account the after income tax effect and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

u.

Accounting standards not yet effective and not adopted early
The Company notes the following Accounting Standards which have been issued but are not
yet effective at 30 June 2016. These standards have not been adopted early by the Company.
The Company‘s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set
out below:
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2014)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities and introduces new rules for hedge accounting. In
December 2014, the AASB made further changes to the classification and measurement rules
and also introduced a new impairment model.
These latest amendments now complete the new financial instruments standard. This standard
does not apply mandatorily before 1 January 2018.
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 replaces AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 Construction Contracts. The new
standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer ‐ so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and
rewards. The standard permits a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. Under this
approach entities will recognise transitional adjustments in retained earnings on the date of
initial application, i.e. without restating the comparative period. They will only need to apply
the new rules to contracts that are not completed as of the date of initial application. This
standard does not apply mandatorily before 1 July 2017.
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and some lease related Interpretations. The new
standard requires all leases to be accounted for as ‘on balance sheet’ by lessees, other than
short term and low value asset leases.
The standard provides new guidance on the application of the definition of lease and on sale
and lease back accounting. The standard also requires new and different disclosures about
leases. This standard does not apply mandatorily before 1 January 2019.
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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AASB 2014 ‐ 3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ‐ Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
AASB 2014‐3 amends AASB 11 Joint Arrangements to provide guidance on the accounting
for acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business.
This standard does not apply mandatorily before 1 January 2016. The amendments require:


the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business,
as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business
combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other Australian Accounting Standards except
for those principles that conflict with the guidance in AASB 11 Joint Arrangements; and;



the acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB 3 and other Australian
Accounting Standards for business combinations.

Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
In May 2015, the AASB decided to revise Australian Accounting Standards that incorporate
IFRS to minimise Australian specific wording even further. The AASB noted that IFRS do
not contain application paragraphs that identify the entities and financial reports to which the
Standards (and Interpretations) apply. As a result, the AASB decided to move the application
paragraphs previously contained in each Australian Accounting Standard (or Interpretation),
unchanged, into a new Standard AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting
Standards. This standard does not apply mandatorily before 1 January 2016.
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
v.

Parent Entity
The financial information of the parent entity, Southern Gold Limited, disclosed at note 25,
has been prepared on the same basis, using the same accounting policies as the consolidated
financial statements, other than investments in controlled entities which are carried at cost,
less any provision for impairment.

w.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
i)

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the parent entity’s functional
currency.
ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at
the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be
carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Group companies
The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different
from the Group’s presentation currency, are translated as follows:


assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period;



income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and



retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies
other than Australian dollars are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in
the foreign currency translation reserve in the statement of financial position. The cumulative
amount of these differences is reclassified into profit or loss in the period in which the
operation is disposed of.
x.

Mine Development asset
Development assets represent expenditure in respect of exploration, evaluation, feasibility
and development incurred by or on behalf of the group, including overburden removal and
construction costs, previously accumulated and carried forward in relation to areas of interest
in which mining has now commenced. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an
appropriate allocation of directly related overhead expenditure.
All expenditure incurred prior to commencement of production from each development
property is carried forward to the extent to which recoupment out of future revenue from the
sale of production, or from the sale of the property, is reasonably assured.
When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of mine property after
commencement of production, such expenditure is carried forward as part of the cost of the
mine property only when future economic benefits are reasonably assured, otherwise the
expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production and expensed as incurred. Such
capitalised development expenditure is added to the total carrying value of development
assets being amortised.
Amortisation and impairment
Development assets are amortised based on the unit of production method which results in
an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the estimated recoverable reserves.
Where this is a change in the reserve the amortisation rate is adjusted prospectively in the
reporting period in which the change occurs. The net carrying values of development
expenditure carried forward are reviewed half yearly by directors to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment.

The financial report was authorised for issue on 20th September 2016 by the Board of Directors.
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2016
$

2015
$

2. LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Loss from ordinary activities included the following items of revenue
and expense:
a.) Operating Revenue
Interest received/receivable

7,490

9,640

Other income

3,000

9,461

10,490

19,101

43,691

74,938

Operating expenses

-

(191,136)

Exploration written off during the year

-

(1,043,805)

-

(1,234,941)

Write off closing balance of exploration expenditure

-

(8,434,630)

Write off tenement bonds

-

(91,147)

Loan from Mekong Minerals

-

1,861,445

Other liabilities

-

363,440

Write off foreign currency translation reserve

-

533,487

b.) Other Administrative Expenses
Office rent

3. LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The financial performance of the discontinued operation, which is
included in the loss from discontinued operations per the Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, is as follows:

Net adjustments to carrying values

-

(5,767,405)

Write off remaining net assets at completion

(22,780)

-

Loss from discontinued operations

(22,780)

(7,002,346)

Since 2012, Southern Gold had been party to an earn-in and shareholders’ agreement
(“Agreement”) with Mekong Minerals Limited (‘Mekong’), whereby Mekong had an
exclusive right to earn an interest in the Southern Gold subsidiary, Southern Gold (Asia) Pty
Ltd (‘SG Asia’) and to manage the activities of SG Asia and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Mekong Minerals (Cambodia) Ltd (collectively the ‘Cambodian operations’).
During May 2015, as part of Southern Gold’s focus on the development of Cannon, the above
Agreement was terminated in favour of a Sale, Purchase and Joint Venture Agreement (the
‘New Agreement’). The New Agreement was to sell 100% of the wholly owned subsidiary
SG Asia to Mekong, for the following consideration:
• 15% free carried interest in unincorporated Joint venture with SG Asia based on the
tenements that are re-granted by the Cambodian authorities until the completion of a
positive definitive feasibility study; and
• 2% gross sales royalty on all products sold from the tenements until US$11 million is
paid and then the gross sales royalty reverts to 1%.
While the New Agreement was executed in May 2015, it remained subject to the successful
renewal of selected tenements. Therefore, SG Asia and its subsidiary Mekong Minerals
(Cambodia) Ltd remained part of the Southern Gold consolidated Financial Statements as at
30 June 2015. However, all material assets and liabilities of the Cambodian Operations had
been revalued to nil, leaving just 22,780 of net assets included in the Group’s Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2015.
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3.

LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
Satisfactory renewal of selected tenements was achieved during the year ended 30 June
2016, enabling formal completion of the New Agreement (refer ASX announcement dated
9 February 2016). As a result, the remaining net assets of $22,780 have been treated as
having been disposed of during the year ended 30 June 2016.
Due to the uncertain nature of the consideration for valuation purposes, being the 15% free
carry interest and the gross sales royalty, no amount has been recognised in the Group’s
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016.

4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2016

2015

$

$

206,715

359,339

The components of tax benefit comprise:
Research and development tax concession

a.)

Deferred tax benefit

2,611,283

81,787

Income tax benefit attributable to loss from ordinary activities

2,817,998

441,126

1,177,226

277,250

1,321

23,708

(24,000)

(23,405)

Research and development tax concession

(206,715)

(359,339)

Prior period timing differences and tax losses brought to
account

1,663,451

163,573

Income tax benefit attributable to loss from ordinary activities

2,611,283

81,787

(1,991,396)

(1,932,775)

(496,643)

(819,669)

59,315

59,315

5,098,193

2,771,989

23,601

2,927

2,693,070

81,787

-

-

17,929,442

23,985,663

5,378,833

7,195,699

The prima facie income tax benefit on pre-tax accounting loss
reconciles to the income tax attributable to operating loss as
follows:
Income tax benefit calculated at 30% of operating loss
Tax effect of capital raising costs
Tax effect of Share-based payments expensed

Reflected in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Deferred tax liability: Exploration
Deferred tax liability: Mine development
Deferred tax asset: Equity raising and Legal costs
Deferred tax asset: Tax losses
Other
Deferred tax asset
b) Deferred tax assets not brought to account, the benefits of which
will only be realised if the conditions for deductibility set out in
Note 1(b) occur
Operating Losses
c) Income tax losses
Total deferred tax asset arising from carried forward tax losses
not recognised as meeting probable criteria
Gross tax losses
Tax Losses at 30%

The deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it
is considered probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised.
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4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The taxation benefits of tax losses and timing differences not brought to account will only be
obtained if:
i.
assessable income is derived of a nature and amount sufficient to enable the
benefit from the deductions to be realised;
ii.

conditions for deductibility imposed by the law are complied with; and

iii.

no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from
the deductions.

In determining the extent to which sufficient future taxable profits are probable, the Group has
considered the 2016 projected income from the Cannon operations. The recognition of a
$2,611,283 increase in the deferred tax asset, during the year ended 30 June 2016, reflects the
revised Mine Finance and Profit Sharing Agreement with Metals X Limited (ASX: MLX –
“Metals X”) (refer ASX announcement 3 November 2015). Under the revised agreement, the
development of the Company’s Cannon Gold Resource was expanded to a larger open pit. The
larger open pit development has increased expectation for future taxable income.
5. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION
Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the
remuneration paid or payable to each member of the group’s key management personnel for the
year ended 30 June 2016. The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel during
the year are as follows:

Short term employee benefits

2016

2015

$

$

455,132

460,849

Post employment benefits

39,438

35,034

Share-based payments

80,000

80,147

574,570

576,030

Mr Hill is not employed by the Company. His services are provided in his capacity as a consultant to act as Company
Secretary of Southern Gold Limited. Mr Hill was paid $19,723 during the 2016 year (2015: $55,315).

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand

1,441,891

857,178

1,441,891

857,178

Trade and other receivables

43,396

52,506

Office lease bond

10,500

10,500

53,896

63,006

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables not considered past due and/or impaired is nil (2015: nil).
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8.

2016

2015

$

$

OTHER ASSETS
Current
Prepayments

-

28,255

Other assets

-

3,838

-

32,093

9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest:
Exploration and evaluation phase

7,132,433

6,937,031

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and
evaluation phase is dependent on the successful development and commercial
exploitation or sale of respective areas.
(i) Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation phase
expenditure is set out below:
Costs brought forward

17,100,387

Exploration incurred – discontinued operations

-

122,576

Exploration written off during the year – discontinued operations

-

(1,043,805)

Write off closing balance – discontinued operations

-

(8,434,630)

Net foreign exchange differences – discontinued operations
Reclassified to Mine development assets

10.

6,937,031

-

1,057,483

6,937,031

8,802,011

-

(2,438,179)

Expenditure incurred during the year

1,157,087

754,464

Expenditure written off / impairment for relinquished tenements

(961,685)

(181,266)

7,132,433

6,937,031

2,744,487

2,732,231

(1,089,009)

-

1,655,478

2,732,231

MINE DEVELOPMENT ASSETS
Costs carried forward in respect of the development of Cannon
Accumulated amortisation
(ii) Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of mine development assets is set out
below:
Costs brought forward
Reclassified from exploration and evaluation expenditure
Expenditure incurred during the year
Amortisation expense
Expenditure incurred during the year

2,732,231

-

-

2,438,179

12,256

294,052

(1,089,009)

-

1,655,478

2,732,231

On 11 November 2014, Southern Gold finalised a Mine Finance and Profit Sharing Agreement
with Metals X to finance and develop its Cannon Gold Resource, located 30km from Kalgoorlie
in WA. Mining operations commenced in August 2015.
On 3 November 2015, the agreement was revised to cover an expanded Cannon open pit
development (“Revised Agreement”). Under the Revised Agreement, Metals X continue to
provide the funding and manage all services required for the mining, haulage and the treatment
of ore from the Cannon deposit, through Metals X’s nearby Jubilee Mill. Completion of the
Phase 1 mining of the expanded open pit is expected in the first quarter of calendar 2017, with
an option at that point for the parties to agree to proceed with Phase 2 underground development.
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10.

MINE DEVELOPMENT ASSETS (continued)
The Mine Development asset is being amortised over the estimated economic life of the open pit
operation on the basis of tonnes of ore mined. Amortisation commenced during the year ended
30 June 2016, with the first commercial production of gold.
Subsequent to August 2015, any costs incurred directly by Southern Gold in overseeing the
Mining contractor (Metals X) and exploration costs associated with the existing resource, are
expensed as incurred. The costs are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income, as ‘Mining Costs’.
Under the Revised Agreement, the mine development costs and costs of mining incurred by
Metals X are only recoverable from the Mining Profits. During this period, Metals X own the
ore from the time it is mined. Once all of Metal X’s mining and development costs have been
repaid from the Mining Profits, all subsequent Mining Profits are to be shared on a 50:50 basis.
Southern Gold’s 50% share of Mining Profits will first be applied to repayment of the loan (refer
note 14).

11.

2016
$

2015
$

249,417

449,841

(218,363)

(418,698)

31,054

31,143

Opening written down value

31,143

59,576

Additions

27,326

4,805

Net foreign currency exchange differences

-

690

Depreciation – Discontinued Operations

-

(6,418)

(821)

-

(26,594)

(27,510)

31,054

31,143

512,243

122,553

98,813

54,304

57,983

4,991

669,039

181,848

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Disposal of subsidiary
Depreciation – Continuing Operations
Closing written down value

12.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables
Sundry payables and accruals
Amount payable to Directors and Key Management related

1

entities1

Payable to Greg Boulton and Associates Pty Ltd (an entity associated with G C Boulton) of $3,667 (2015:$ 3,667), and
$20,000 in Director fees to be settled by the issue of shares on 1 July 2016.
Payable to Red Balloon Superannuation Fund (an entity associated with Mr David Turvey) of $145 (2015: $145).
Payable to Lapun Kamap Superannuation Fund (an entity associated with Mr Michael Billing) of $145 (2015: $145), and
$10,000 in Director fees to be settled by the issue of shares on 1 July 2016.
Payable to Bayfront Nominees Pty Ltd (an entity associated with D L Hill) of $2,126 (2015: $1,034)
Payable to Mr Simon Mitchell, being a final bonus relating to the year ended 30 June 2016 $21,900 (2015: $nil)
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2016
$

13.

2015
$

PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised in and included in the
financial statements is as follows:
Provision for employee benefits
Current

10,910

3,370

-

-

10,910

3,370

Opening balance

3,370

86,050

Provision in subsidiary disposed

1,143

-

Additional provision

6,397

4,513

-

(87,193)

10,910

3,370

Non-Current

Movement schedule for employee benefits

Benefits utilised or surrendered
Closing balance

2016
$

14.

2015
$

BORROWINGS
Metals X loan
Convertible debt

2,109,957

533,510

935,189

-

3,045,146

533,510

Metals X loan
In addition to the terms of the Revised Agreement as detailed in Note 10, Metals X has
provided a secured loan facility to Southern Gold of $2,500,000. The loan is interest bearing,
fixed at 8% per annum. As at 30 June 2016, $2,000,000 has been drawn down. The loan
balance at 30 June 2016, inclusive of accrued interest is $2,109,957.
At 30 June 2015, the loan facility was $500,000. The loan facility was increased in response
to the larger open pit development which would increase returns but delay profits from
operations, and distributions to the Company, by six months.
Mining profits from the Cannon Mine will first be applied to the reimbursement of Metals
X’s mining and development costs, with all subsequent Mining Profits to be shared on a
50:50 basis. Southern Gold’s 50% share of Mining Profits will first be applied to repayment
of the loan balance.
Convertible debt
Southern Gold raised $1,000,000 through an unsecured ‘convertible debt facility’ (refer ASX
announcements dated 1 April 2016 and 28 April 2016). The following options were issued
to the debt providers:
•
1,388,889 call options with an exercise price of $0.32, expiry 30 June 2017; and
•
1,388,889 call options with an exercise price of $0.40, expiry 30 June 2017.
If all options are exercised, the exercise price receivable by Southern Gold would fully offset
the repayment of the $1,000,000 borrowing due 30 June 2017.
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14.

BORROWINGS (continued)
The agreed interest rate on the face value of $1,000,000 is 8%. The carrying value of the
borrowing was discounted using an assessed market rate for unsecured short term borrowings
of 15%, to provide an opening balance of $924,975. Interest expense is recognised at that
15% using the ‘effective interest rate method’, rather than the stated rate of 8% payable, the
difference incrementally increasing the balance of the borrowings to the $1,000,000 face
value repayable at 30 June 2017.
The value of the options were recognised as $75,025, being the difference between the
$1,000,000 proceeds of borrowings received and the initial book value of the borrowing
recognised of $924,975. The value of the options are recognised in the Share Based Payments
Reserve.

15.

2016
$

2015
$

35,700,378

35,379,551

ISSUED CAPITAL
(a) Ordinary Shares
Issued share capital:
36,567,820 fully paid ordinary shares
(2015: 527,624,224)

2016

Movement in issued shares for the year:

2015

No.

$

No.

$

527,624,224

35,379,551

385,957,580

34,078,307

35,175,871

35,379,551

168,699

50,000

1,223,250

275,232

-

-

Share purchase plan

-

-

36,666,644

330,270

Placement of shares

-

-

105,000,000

1,050,000

Net costs associated with the issue of shares

-

(4,404)

-

(79,026)

36,567,820

35,700,379

527,624,224

35,379,551

Balance at beginning of financial year
Restated for share consolidation 1:15

1

Shares issued to Directors
Options exercised

Balance at end of financial year

1
ISSUED
CAPITAL
The number
of shares at 1 July 2015 was 527,624,224. This has been restated for the impact of the 1:15

share consolidation completed on 29 October 2015.

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.
In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders rank after all creditors
and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.
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15.

ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Options on Issue
At 30 June 2016, there were 3,639,784 (30 June 2015: 2,084,221) unissued shares for
which the following options were outstanding:
Fair Value at
Grant Date

Exercise Price

Number under
Option

Grant Date

Date of Expiry

15.04.2013
27.11.2014
19.11.2015
28.04.2016

15.10.2017
30.11.2019
15.11.2020
30.06.2017

0.150
0.105
0.109
0.029

0.90
0.375
0.375
0.32

128,670
400,002
333,334
1,388,889

28.04.2016

30.06.2017

0.025

0.40

1,388,889
3,639,784

The number of options on issue at 29 October 2015 were adjusted for the share
consolidation. The number of options were reduced to 1 option for every 15 options on
issue, and the exercise price was increased by a factor of 15.
During the year ended 30 June 2016, the following options over ordinary shares were
issued:


2,777,778 unlisted options were issued to two debt providers. The face value of the
debt provided to Southern Gold was $1,000,000, repayable 30 June 2017. The debt
is unsecured. 1,388,889 options have an exercise price of $0.32, with an expiry of
30 June 2017. The other 1,388,889 options have an exercise price of $0.40, with an
expiry of 30 June 2017. The fair value of the options was calculated as the difference
between the cash funding received of $1,000,000 and the net present value of the
interest and principal repayment using an effective interest rate of 15% (refer Note
14).



333,334 unlisted options were issued to Mr Simon Mitchell, as agreed in his contract
of employment as Managing Director. These options were accounted for in the prior
year ending 30 June 2015, using the Black Scholes valuation method. During the
year ended 30 June 2016, these options vested and were issued to Mr Mitchell,
following shareholder approval on 22 October 2015.

(c) Capital Management
Management effectively manages the capital of the Group by assessing the financial risks
and adjusting the capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market.
The responses include the management of dividends to shareholders and share issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital
during the year.
The amounts managed as capital by the Group for the reporting periods under review
are as follows:
2016
$

2015
$

Debt

3,045,146

533,510

Cash

(1,441,891)

(857,178)

1,603,255

(323,668)

9,282,727

10,015,741

17.3%

-

Equity
Net debt to equity ratio
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16.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
The auditor of Southern Gold Limited is Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.
2016
$

2015
$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Grant Thornton for:
An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any
other entity of the group

34,316

30,300

Taxation and other services

15,317

-

-

6,001

49,633

36,301

Amounts received or due and receivable by overseas related
practices of Grant Thornton for:
External audit

17.

RELATED PARTY AND KEY MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
The terms and conditions of the transactions between related parties are on normal
commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties
unless otherwise stated.
a) Equity Interests
Equity Interests in controlled entities
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in
Note 24 to the financial statements.
Equity Interests in joint ventures
Details of interests in joint ventures are disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.
b) Transactions within wholly owned group
The wholly owned group includes:



The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group; and
The wholly-owned controlled entities.

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Southern Gold Limited.
During the financial year Southern Gold Limited provided accounting and administrative
services at no cost to the controlled entities and the advancement of interest free loans.
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17.

RELATED PARTY AND KEY MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued)
c) Transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel
The following comprises payments made to entities in which Directors or Key
Management Personnel have an interest;
Director and Key
Management
Personnel

Related Party Transaction

2016
$

2015
$

D L Hill

Payments to a member of Key Management for
financial and company secretarial services provided

19,723

55,315

GC Boulton

Payments to a Director related entity for Director
services provided*

80,000

40,000

D Turvey

Payments to a Director related entity for consulting
services provided in the due diligence process for
the acquisition of International Gold Private Ltd
(refer Note 26)

6,534

-

* Fees for Director services, for the year ended 30 June 2016, were settled through $40,000 in cash and
$40,000 in the issue of shares. The issue of share comprised $20,000 issued during the year ended 30 June
2016 and $20,000 which remained outstanding at 30 June 2016 which was satisfied through the issue of
shares on 1 July 2016.

d) Related party balances
Amounts receivable from and payable to Directors and Key Management Personnel and their
related entities at balance date arising from these transactions were as follows:
2016
$

2015
$

Current payables
Amounts payable to Directors and Key Management Personnel
related entities (refer Note 12)

57,983

4,991

57,983

4,991

There were no amounts receivable from related parties.
e) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel (see summary in Note 5)
18.

JOINT OPERATIONS
The consolidated entity had interests in unincorporated joint operations at 30 June as follows:
Interest 2016

Interest 2015

-

49.9%

(b) Southern Gold (Asia) Joint Venture

15%

100%

(c) Heron Resources Joint Venture

80%

80%

(d) Heron Resources KNP Joint Venture

80%

80%

(e) Glandore Joint Venture - Aruma

0%

n/a

(a) Kratie South Joint Venture – JOGMEC, Cambodia – All

minerals

Notes
(a) The joint operations were related to the tenements held though Southern Gold’s former
subsidiary Southern Gold (Asia) Pty Ltd (“SG Asia”). The sale of this subsidiary was
completed during the year ended 30 June 2016 (refer Note 3).
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18.

JOINT OPERATIONS (continued)
(b) Under the terms of the sale of Southern Gold’s former subsidiary SG Asia, Southern Gold
retains a 15% free carried interest in an unincorporated Joint venture with SG Asia based
on selected tenements held by SG Asia that were re-granted by the Cambodian authorities
until the completion of a positive definitive feasibility study, together with a 2% gross
sales royalty on all products sold from the tenements until US$11 million is received,
then reverting to a 1% gross sales royalty (refer Note 3).
(c) Under the terms of the agreement with Heron Resources Limited (“Heron”), Southern
Gold has earned an 80% interest in 3 tenements east of Kalgoorlie, in Western Australia,
by spending a total of $240,000 over 3 years to September 2012. One of these tenements
was relinquished subsequent to 30 June 2016 (any associated deferred expenditure for the
relinquished tenement was written down to nil at 30 June 2016). The other two tenements
continue to remain valid.
(d) Under the terms of a Heads of Agreement with Heron, Southern Gold earned an 80% gold
interest associated with Heron’s Bulong Project (held by Hampton Nickel Pty Ltd), by
meeting agreed exploration expenditures through to 30 June 2014. Heron continues to
hold a free carry 20% interest, until Southern Gold meet $8m in total expenditure or
conduct a feasibility study.
(e) On 4 April 2016, Southern Gold entered into the Glandore Project Farm In and Joint
Venture Agreement (“Glandore Agreement”) with Aruma Exploration Pty Ltd (refer ASX
announcement 4 April 2016). Under the Glandore Agreement, Southern Gold may earn
up to a 90% interest in the Glandore tenements, through staged exploration expenditure
of up to $1,200,000 within three years from the date of the agreement. The Glandore
tenements comprise 28.7 km2 of contiguous tenements located adjacent to Southern
Gold’s Bulong Project.

19.

COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a)

Exploration Expenditure Commitments
The Group has certain obligations to perform exploration work and expend minimum
amounts of money on such works on mineral exploration tenements.
These obligations will vary from time to time, subject to statutory approval. The terms
of current and future joint ventures, the grant or relinquishment of licences and changes
to licence areas at renewal or expiry, will alter the expenditure commitments of the
Group.
The Group also has exploration expenditure commitments pursuant to the Glandore
Agreement (refer Note 18 (e)).
Total expenditure commitments at balance date in respect of these minimum tenement
expenditure requirements, not otherwise provided for in the financial statements, are
as follows:
2016
$
Not later than one year:
Later than one year but not later than two years:

868,450

2015
$
1,175,165

992,396

699,620

Later than two years but not later than five years:

1,779,784

1,664,395

Greater than five years

4,145,011

4,378,341

7,785,641

7,917,521
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19.

COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b)

Service Agreements
Service agreements between the Group and Non-Executive Directors are disclosed in
the Remuneration Report of the Directors Report.

(c)

Office Rental
The consolidated entity entered into a rental agreement to occupy its principle office
at a cost of $44,864 per annum plus GST, for a term of one year expiring on 28
February 2017.
2016
$
Not later than one year:

20.

2015
$

29,909

25,855

Later than one year but not later than two years:

-

-

Later than two years but not later than five years:

-

-

29,909

25,855

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Financial Risk Management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and borrowings.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with
AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as
follows:
2016
$

2015
$

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

1,441,891

857,178

53,896

63,006

1,495,787

920,184

669,039

181,848

3,045,146

533,510

3,714,185

715,358

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

(i) Treasury Risk Management
The Board of the Consolidated Group meets on a regular basis to analyse currency
and interest rate exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the
context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts.
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(ii) Financial Risks
The main risks the Consolidated Group is exposed to through its financial
instruments are liquidity risk, credit risk, and interest rate risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter
difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise meeting its obligations related to
financial liabilities.
The Consolidated Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash
flows.
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties
failed to perform as contracted.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral
or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in
the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
No receivables are considered past due and/or impaired at balance date.
Sensitivity Analysis
The Company has not performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure
to price risk at reporting date as a change in share price by 10% is not
considered to have a material impact on profit and equity.
Interest Rate Risk
The Consolidated Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, being the risk that a
financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates, is contained in the following table which details the exposure
to interest rate risk at the reporting date. All other financial assets and
liabilities are non-interest bearing.

2016

Interest
Bearing

Non-interest
Bearing

Total

Floating
interest
rate

Fixed
interest
rate

Financial assets
Cash and deposits

1,441,891

-

1,441,891

1.50%

-

Receivables

-

53,896

53,896

-

-

Less: Payables

-

(669,039)

(669,039)

-

-

Less: Borrowings

(3,045,146)

-

(3,045,146)

-

(10.1%)

Net financial assets

(1,603,255)

(615,143)

(2,218,398)
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Interest
Bearing

2015

Non-interest
Bearing

Total

Floating
interest
rate

Fixed
interest
rate

Financial assets
Cash and deposits

857,178

-

857,178

2.00%

-

Receivables

-

63,006

63,006

-

-

Less: Payables

-

(181,848)

(181,848)

-

-

(533,510)

-

(533,510)

-

(8%)

323,668

(118,842)

204,826

Less: Borrowings
Net financial assets

Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate cash
deposits. At 30 June 2016, nil (2015: nil) of group cash deposits are fixed.
The fixed interest rate applicable to Borrowings as at 30 June 2016 is a
weighted average between the interest rates applicable to the MLX loan and
the Convertible debt. Refer Note 14 for further details of the terms of the
borrowings.
Sensitivity Analysis
The company has not performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure
to interest rate risk at reporting date as a change in interest rates by 2% is not
considered to have a material impact on profit and equity.
(iii) Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
financial statements represents their respective net fair values, determined in
accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the financial
statements.
21.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Options
The Group has an ownership-based compensation plan for employees. In accordance with
the provisions of the Employee Share Option Plan, as approved by shareholders at an Annual
General Meeting, Directors may issue options to purchase shares in the company to
employees at an issue price determined by the market price of ordinary shares at the time the
option is granted. No Directors participate in the Employee Share Option Plan.
In accordance with the terms of the Employee Share Option Plan, options vest at grant date
and may be exercised at any time from the date of their issue to the date of their expiry. Share
options are not listed, carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.
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21.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The following share based payment arrangements were in existence at 30 June 2016:
Options – Series

No.

Grant Date

Expiry Date

Exercise
Price

Fair value at
grant date

128,670

15.04.2013

15.10.2017

$0.900

$0.150

400,002

27.11.2014

30.11.2019

$0.375

$0.105

333,334

01.02.2015

18.11.2020

$0.375

$0.109

Employee Share Option Plan
April 20131
Director Options
November 20142
March

20153

1.

In accordance with the Employee Share Option Plan, share options have been granted to employees at various times and terms
show in the above table. The number of options and the exercise price has been restated for the impact of the 1 for 15 share
consolidation in November 2015.

2.

6,000,000 unlisted options issued to Directors on 27 November 2014, pursuant to approval at the Annual General Meeting
(2,000,000 each to Messrs. Greg Boulton, David Turvey and Michael Billing). The number of options and the exercise price
has been restated for the impact of the 1 for 15 share consolidation in November 2015.

3.

5,000,000 unlisted options to be issued to Mr Simon Mitchell, as agreed in his contract of employment as Managing Director,
commencing 1 February 2015. These options vested during the current year, following shareholder approval on 22 October
2015. The number of options and the exercise price has been restated for the impact of the 1 for 15 share consolidation in
November 2015.

The options hold no voting or dividends rights and are unlisted.
Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it is
assumed that this is indicative of future movements.
The life of the options is based on the historical exercise patterns, which may not eventuate
in the future.
Other than the options issued to Mr Mitchell, there were no other options granted to Key
Management Personnel during the year.
The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted as share based payments at
the beginning and end of the financial year:
Share Option Granted

2016
Weighted
average
exercise price
$

Number of
options
Balance at beginning of financial year
Restated for 1:15 consolidation

2015

12,930,000

$0.030

862,006

$0.453

Granted during the financial year (i)

-

-

Exercised during the financial year

-

-

Cancelled during the financial year

-

-

Balance at end of the financial year (ii)

862,006

$0.453

Weighted
average
exercise price
$

Number of
options
2,930,000

$0.074

-

-

11,000,000

$0.025

-

-

(1,000,000)

$0.105

12,930,000

$0.030

(i) Options granted
There were no options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan in the year
ended 30 June 2016 (2015: Nil).
(ii) Options outstanding at end of the financial year
The share options outstanding at the end of the financial year had an average
exercise price of $0.453 (2015: $0.453, restated for the 1:15 share consolidation)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1,269 days (2015: 1,534
days).
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22.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
Segment Information
Identification of reportable segments
AASB 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the consolidated entity that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess
its performance.
The consolidated entity has determined that there is only one operating segment in the year
ended 30 June 2016, being the Australian geographical segment with similarity of assets
within that one segment. The consolidated entity operates primarily in one business, namely
the exploration of minerals. This is the basis on which internal reports are provided to the
Board of Directors for assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources
within the consolidated entity. Therefore, no segment information is provided for the year
ended 30 June 2016.

23.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
2016
Cents per share

2015
Cents per share

From continuing & discontinued operations
Basic (cents per share) – Loss

(3.14)

(25.82)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

(3.14)

(25.82)

Basic (cents per share) – Loss

(3.08)

(1.67)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

(3.08)

(1.67)

Basic (cents per share) – Loss

(0.06)

(24.15)

Diluted (cents per share) – Loss

(0.06)

(24.15)

From continuing operations

From discontinued operations

Basic and Dilutive Earnings per share
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows:
$

$

Earnings from continuing and discontinued operations

(1,128,867)

(7,485,386)

Earnings from continuing operations

(1,106,087)

(483,040)

(22,780)

(7,002,346)

Earnings from discontinued operations
Earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
agree directly to net loss in the statement of financial performance.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

No.

No.

35,968,081

28,990,474

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2016 and the comparative
for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been restated for the impact of the 1:15 share consolidation
completed on 29 October 2015. These restated weighted averages have been used for the calculations
of earning per share in the both years. The weighted average number of ordinary shares, reported in
the prior year, for the year ended 30 June 2015 was 434,857,110.
The number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share is the same as the
number used in the calculation of basic earnings per share, as options are not considered dilutive.
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24.

CONTROLLED ENTITIES CONSOLIDATED
Ownership Interest

Country of
Incorporation

Name of Entity

1

25.

Parent Entity
Southern Gold Limited

Australia

Controlled Entities
Challenger West Holdings Pty Ltd
CMH Resources Pty Ltd
Gawler Arc Holdings Pty Ltd
Southern Mining Pty Ltd
Inferus Resources Pty Ltd 1
New Southern Mining Pty Ltd

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

2016
%

2015
%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

All shares in Inferus Resources Pty Ltd are held by Southern Mining Pty Ltd

SOUTHERN GOLD LIMITED COMPANY INFORMATION
2016

2015

$

$

Parent Entity
Assets
Current assets

1,495,787

1,013,247

Non-current assets

11,512,035

9,698,441

Total assets

13,007,822

10,711,688

3,725,094

718,728

-

-

3,725,094

718,728

35,700,379

35,379,551

(28,492,218)

(27,386,132)

2,074,566

1,999,541

9,282,727

9,992,960

(1,106,086)

(7,360,425)

-

-

(1,106,086)

(7,360,425)

Guarantees in relation to the debts of
subsidiaries

-

-

Contingent liabilities

-

-

7,785,641

7,917,521

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Issued capital
Retained earnings
Share based payments reserve

Financial Performance
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Contractual commitments - exploration
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26.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
On the 8 July 2016, Southern Gold executed a binding legal agreement with an unlisted public
company, Asiatic Gold Ltd (“Asiatic”), to acquire its wholly-owned Singaporean Registered
subsidiary International Gold Private Ltd (“IGPL”), itself a 100% owner of a Korean
company, Hee Song Metals Co Ltd (“HSML”). Consideration paid by Southern Gold is
valued at approximately A$2 million, comprising 6,294,942 Southern Gold ordinary shares
and A$116,000 cash. The Southern Gold consideration shares will be distributed in-specie
to 77 Asiatic shareholders. HSML holds mineral tenure in South Korea, consisting of 44
granted tenements across 17 project areas.
For further information, refer ASX
Announcement dated 8 July 2016.
As part of the above transaction, several of Asiatic’s major shareholders subscribed for $1.2m
of Southern Gold shares at $0.35/share, representing a 18% premium to the 20 day volume
weighted average share price to 6 July 2016, of $0.297. The share issue will be considered
by shareholders at a general meeting on 21 September 2016.
Other than that noted above, there has not arisen in the interval any other matters or
circumstances, since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could affect
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of the Group in future
years.

27.

RESERVES
Share based payments reserve – the share based payments reserve records items recognised
as expenses on valuation of options issued to employees or other service providers.
Foreign currency translation reserve – the foreign currency translation reserve records
exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign controlled subsidiary.

28.

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPLE OFFICE
The registered and principle office of the Company and its controlled entities is;
Level 1, 8 Beulah Road, Norwood, South Australia, 5067
ABN 30 107 424 519
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Directors’ Declaration
The Directors of Southern Gold Limited declare that:
a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and:
i.)

give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of the
performance for the year ended on that date of the Consolidated Group; and

ii.)

comply with Accounting Standards; and

iii.)

Southern Gold Limited complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
described in Note 1; and

b) the Chief Executive Officer and Finance Manager have declared that:
i)

The financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly
maintained in accordance with s286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

ii) The financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting
Standards; and
iii) The financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;
c) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors
Dated at Adelaide this 20th day of September 2016.

S Mitchell
Managing Director

G C Boulton AM
Chairman
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Level 1,
67 Greenhill Rd
Wayville SA 5034
Correspondence to:
GPO Box 1270
Adelaide SA 5001
T 61 8 8372 6666
F 61 8 8372 6677
E info.sa@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTHERN GOLD LIMITED
Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Southern Gold Limited (the Company),
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities it
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001. The Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Directors also state, in the notes to
the financial report, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require us
to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity.
Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or
omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an
Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current scheme
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In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.
Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion:
a

b

the financial report of Southern Gold Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
i

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended
30 June 2016. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation
of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion on the Remuneration Report

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Southern Gold Limited for the year ended 30 June
2016, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

I S Kemp
Partner - Audit & Assurance
Adelaide, 20 September 2016

